RECEIVED

Jul 01 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-000736

Kenneth B. Loveless,Appellant,
v.

Kevin Scully, Edward K. White, Flora E. "Beth" Hutchison,
Michael Montgomery and Beatrice Dennis-White, Respondents.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT AS TO
RESPONDENTS EDWARD K. WHITE
AND FLORA E. "BETH" HUTCHISON**

Desa Ballard (S.C. Bar No. 498)
Haley Hubbard (S.C. Bar No. 103195)

BALLARD & WATSON
226 State Street
West Columbia, South Carolina 29169
Telephone 803.796.9299
Facsimile 803.796.1066
desab@desaballard.com
haley@desaballard.com

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Is the court's order in error as to the statute of limitations because it improperly overrules the order of another circuit court judge?
- II. Did the trial court err in granting a nonexistent Motion to Dismiss?
- III. Did the trial court err in concluding that the action against White and Hutchison was barred by the doctrines of legislative immunity, statute of limitations and "basic pleading standards?"

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from several orders dismissing a tort action against Defendants who were added to the action by a Second Amended Complaint.¹ This brief only addresses issues as to respondents Edward K. White (“White”), Flora E. “Beth” Hutchison (“Hutchison”)

Appellant Kenneth Loveless (“Loveless”) filed this libel action against Respondent Kevin Scully (“Scully”) on March 14, 2022 (Complaint 3.14.2022). Loveless filed a Motion to Amend Complaint on November 17, 2023, seeking to add causes of action against Scully for conspiracy and outrage. (Motion to Amend Complaint 11.17.2023). The trial court granted Loveless’ Motion to Amend Complaint to add causes of action for civil conspiracy and outrage against Defendant Scully on January 23, 2024 (Order Granting Motion to Amend), and Loveless filed the Amended Complaint of January 31, 2024. (Amended Complaint).

On November 15, 2024, Loveless filed a motion to amend the complaint in this matter for a second time, seeking to add Edward K. White (“White”), Elizabeth “Beth” Hutchison (“Hutchison”), and Michael Montgomery (“Montgomery”) as defendants to the instant action for their role in the conspiracy against Loveless. (Second Motion to Amend 11.15.2024).

After Loveless sought permission to file the Second Amended Complaint, White and Hutchison filed motions to intervene in the existing action, which was then pending only as to Scully. (Motion to Intervene 12.2.2024). Both argued that they had standing to intervene because the proposed Second Amended Complaint was “improperly and unlawfully” attempting to add

¹ The trial court issued three orders of dismissal, each of which addressed different defendants. Appellant filed three Notices of Appeal. The Court of Appeals consolidated the appeals, and required one Record on Appeal. (Letter dated March 25, 2026). Separate briefs are filed as to each order, with two briefs addressing three Respondents. This brief addresses Respondents Edward. K. White (“White”) and Flora E. “Beth” Hutchison (“Hutchison”). Separate briefs are filed as to Respondents Beatrice Dennis-White (“Dennis-White”), Kevin Scully (“Scully”) and Michael Montgomery (“Montgomery”). Since the grounds relating to Michael Montgomery (“Montgomery”) are, at least in part, different from the grounds affecting Respondents White and Hutchison, a separate appellant’s brief is filed as to Montgomery.

them as defendants. *Id.* White and Hutchison fully briefed their grounds for asserting they should not be made parties to the action, arguing *inter alia*, that the statute of limitations barred them from being added as Defendants. (Response 1.23.2025).

Following a hearing, Circuit Court Judge Charles J. McCutchen granted White's and Hutchison's motion to intervene and granted Loveless' motion to file the Second Amended Complaint ("McCutchen Order"), which allowed the addition of Respondents White, Hutchison, Montgomery and Dennis-White as defendants. (Order dated 7.25.2025).

In connection with their intervention in the action, both White and Hutchison thoroughly argued that the amendment was futile because the statute of limitations barred an action against them. Judge McCutchen ruled:

[I]t would be premature for the Court to make a determination of when each cause of action arose [or] when each cause of action was or could be discovered by Plaintiff. . . Defendants are free to assert their claims and defenses in their respective pleadings; once discovery on all those issues have been conducted, Defendants can bring those issues before the Court at that time.

Id. page 9.

White and Hutchison filed a Motion to Reconsider which was denied (Motion dated 7.29.2025; Order dated 8.26.2025). After both were served with the Second Amended Complaint, White and Hutchison moved to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint, alleging only that the Second Amended Complaint was premature because their motion to reconsider was still pending. (Motion 8.11.2025). The motion to reconsider was denied. (Order 8.26.2025). No other motion to dismiss was filed by White or Hutchison, and the pending motion to dismiss was then moot.²

² Judge McCutchen denied the motion for reconsideration on August 26, 2025, after Loveless filed and served the Second Amended Complaint. (Order 8.26.2025).

White and Hutchison filed a memorandum supposedly in support of the existing, moot motion to dismiss, but introduced new grounds not set forth in the moot motion to dismiss. (Memorandum filed 10.6.2025). In their memoranda, White and Hutchison argued they were protected by legislative immunity and the statute of limitations and that the Second Amended Complaint did not properly plead civil conspiracy or outrage. *Id.*

At the hearing on all motions, Loveless pointed out that there was no pending Motion to Dismiss raising the issues argued in White and Hutchison's memorandum. (Tr. P. 44, lines 19-23; P. 45, lines 24-25). Loveless also briefed and argued the substantive issues raised in White and Hutchison's memorandum, even though those issues were not properly raised by motion. (KL filing 2.2.2026). Loveless also argued and briefed the preclusive effect of the McCutchen order. *Id.* ; Tr. P. 43, lines 10-19).

Judge Daniel Coble ("the trial judge") dismissed the Second Amended Complaint as to White and Hutchison, making express rulings on the statute of limitations, legislative immunity, and other issues, none of which had been raised by proper motion to dismiss. (Form 4 order 2.9.2026; Formal order 2.17.2026). Loveless filed a motion to reconsider, properly raising all grounds set forth in this appeal. (Motion 2.27.26). Loveless' motion was denied without comment. (Order 3.4.2026).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The orders on appeal raised claims for civil conspiracy, libel,³ and outrage, all of which are matters of law. *Culler v. Blue Ridge Elec. Coop. Inc.*, 309 S.C. 243, 422 S.E.2d 91 (1992) (a tort action is generally an action at law, unless equitable relief is sought).

³ While the Second Amended Complaint included Defendants White and Hutchison in the First Cause of Action (for libel), Loveless withdrew the First Cause of Action in the Second Amended Complaint as to White and Hutchison at the hearing. (Tr. P. 17, Lines 15-20).

However, the scope of review on motions to dismiss, which involves no findings of fact at all, must necessarily be based on review for legal error since no factual issues are involved. *Citizens for Quality Rural Living Inc. v. Greenville County Planning Commission et al.*, 426 S.C. 97, 102, 825 S.E.2d 721, 724 (Ct.App. 2019) (“As to questions of law, this court’s standard of review is *de novo*.”).

An appellate court reviews questions of law *de novo*. “This Court undertakes a *de novo* review of all issues of law, and is free to decide matters of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Menezes v. Ross*, 403 S.C. 522, 744 S.E.2d 178 (2013). *See also Milliken & Co. v. Morin*, 399 S.C. 23, 731 S.E.2d 288 (2012). “We review questions of law *de novo*, with no deference to trial courts.” *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836 (2018).

On appeal from the dismissal of a case pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), an appellate court applies the same standard of review as the trial court.” *Riddle v. Morris*, 381 S.C. 643, 646, 675 S.E.2d 431, 433 (2009). “If the facts alleged and inferences deducible therefrom would plaintiff to any relief, then dismissal under Rule 12(b)(6) is improper,” *Freemantle v. Preston et al.*, 398 S.C. 186, 728, 728 S.E.2d 40 (2012), citing *Sloan Constr. Co. v. Southco Grassing, Inc.*, 377 S.C. 108, 113, 659 S.E.2d 158, 161 (2008).

ARGUMENT

1. The court’s order is in error as to the statute of limitations because it improperly overrules the order of another circuit court judge.

White and Hutchison argued both before and after intervention that Loveless’ claims against them were barred by the statute of limitations, among other grounds. (Filing 2.15.2024; filing 1.23.2025; filing 7.29.2025). The McCutchen Order expressly denied these arguments and

expressly ordered that the statute of limitations could be raised after discovery had occurred. There was and is no appeal of the McCutchen Order.

This trial court's order granting White and Hutchison's Motion to Dismiss is in error because it directly overrules the previous order of another circuit court judge issued in the same case. "This State has a long-standing rule that one judge of the same court cannot overrule another." *Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union*, 403 S.C. 560, 573, 743 S.E.2d 778, 785 (2013); *Tisdale v. Amer. Life Ins. Co.*, 216 S.C. 10, 56 S.E.2d 580 (1950); *Dinkins v. Robbins*, 203 S.C. 199, 26 S.E.2d 689 (1943). The trial judge's Order granting White and Hutchison's Motion to Dismiss makes numerous rulings that set aside the McCutchen order granting Loveless' Motion for Second Amended Complaint, which is legal error. *Enoree Baptist Church v. Fletcher*, 287 S.C. 602, 340 S.E.2d 546 (1985) ("One Circuit Court Judge does not have the authority to set aside the order of another.").

The rule that one circuit court judge cannot overrule a prior circuit court judge on the same matter is almost without exception. *Enoree Baptist Church v. Fletcher*, 287 S.C. 602, 340 S.E.2d 546 (1985). In articulating the rule in 1880, the South Carolina Supreme Court said, "all authorities agree as to the general doctrine "that the decision of one judge is not subject to be reviewed by another." *Steele v. Charlotte*, 14 S.C. 324 (SC 1880).⁴ "This rule results from the nature of the

⁴ "The Court of Common Pleas is a unity, although its jurisdiction is administered by a number of judges who are, in some sense, the exponents of the court. When one of these judges makes a decision upon the merits of a matter within his jurisdiction, that is not merely the personal opinion of the judge, but a judgment of the Court of Common Pleas, which exhausts the power of the court upon that subject and must stand until reversed or set aside in the manner prescribed by law. There is no appeal from one Circuit court judge to another. All are of equal dignity and have the same right to pronounce the judgments of the court. One Circuit judge upon the same state of facts, has no power to change, alter or reverse a decision of a brother judge of the same Circuit. Otherwise, there would be no end to litigation. No one could tell where it would stop. Nothing could be considered as finally adjudged, and all rights of person and property would be set afloat. This rule results from the nature of the case and well-established principles. Its propriety is so obvious that it has not been thought necessary to enforce it by constitutional prohibition or express enactment, but for the sake of symmetry and convenience in practice it has been embodied in our 61st Rule of the Circuit Courts, which declares that " if any application for an order be made to any judge, and such order be

case and well-established principles. Its propriety is so obvious that it has not been thought necessary to enforce it by constitutional prohibition or express enactment, but for the sake of symmetry and convenience it has been embodied” by court rule.”⁵ *Id.* 14 S.C. at 329.

In memorializing the common law rule, the Supreme Court acknowledged that there “are circumstances under which the Court of Common Pleas will allow its own decisions to be assailed and set aside in its own courts. . . . The court will not change its own orders (except they are merely administrative) without a direct proceeding to set aside one order and substitute another for good cause; and the fact that one of the judges may differ in judgment upon the subject, from the judge who made the order complained of, is not of itself regarded as sufficient cause.” *Id.*, 14 S.C. at 329.

The Supreme Court noted in *Steele* that the earlier circuit court decision “will only be reviewed *upon a new state of facts arising after the decision.*” *Id.* 14 S.C. at 330. (emphasis in original).

The rule articulated in 1880 has remained unchanged, but case law has developed narrowing this rule as it relates to summary judgment. Multiple appellate opinions clarify that a successive summary judgment motion is not barred if additional information becomes available through discovery and is considered on a successive summary judgment motion. *Smith v.*

refused, in whole or in part, or be granted conditionally, or on terms, no subsequent application upon the same state of facts, shall be made to any other judge; and if upon such subsequent application, any order be made, it shall be revoked (emphasis added) *Id. supra.*, 14 S.C. 329-330.

⁵ The court rule referenced in *Steele* was former Rule 61 of the Circuit Court rules, which was repealed by implication in 1985 when the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure were adopted and all statutes which governed procedure in the circuit courts were repealed. 1985 Act No. 100. This occurred at the same time constitutional amendments were ratified to vest exclusive jurisdiction in the Supreme Court to govern practice and procedure in the state courts. 1985 Act #0008 (effective February 26, 1985).

Breedlove, 661 S.E.2d 67, 377 S.C. 415 (S.C. 2008) (citing *Dorrell v. S.C. Dept. of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 312, 325, 605 S.E.2d 12, 19 (2004)).

This is entirely consistent with the *Steele* court’s holding that “a new state of facts arising after the decision” does, in fact, permit a successive hearing by a different circuit court judge.

The rule has been strictly applied by the appellate courts uniformly, and to the exact circumstance presented here. In *Enoree Baptist Church v. Fletcher*, 287 S.C. 602, 340 S.E.2d 546 (1986), the first circuit court judge permitted an amended complaint to be filed and served. The case resulted in a mistrial, and a second circuit court judge vacated the amended complaint, ruling that the amendment should not have been permitted. The South Carolina Supreme Court reversed and “remanded for a new trial under the amended complaint.” 287 S.C. at 604, 340 S.E.2d AT 547.

The rule “can be a difficult one to apply.” *Rice v. Doe*, 442 S.C. 160, 164, 898 S.E.2d 127 (2023). In *Steele*, the Supreme Court set forth the only recognized exceptions to the general rule. “One circuit court judge has the authority to make a different ruling than a prior judge in some circumstances.” *Id.* 287 S.C. at 165. The court identified “class certification orders,” and “pretrial rulings on evidentiary issues are subject to change by the trial judge,” and offered general guidance.⁶ *Id.*

“If a prior ruling addresses a substantive point of law, or if nothing of significance has changed, the second circuit court judge should consider the previous judge’s ruling to be final. . . . “A motion once heard and decided fully [may] be reviewed *upon a new state of facts arising after*

⁶ With reference to the evidentiary rulings at trial, the Court said “[i]f the trial judge is different from the trial judge who ruled on the pretrial motion, the trial judge has an obligation to hear the arguments as to why the ruling during trial should be different from the pretrial ruling.” *Rice, supra.*, 442 S.C. 165.

the decision[,] . . . such as to make a new case as . . . newly discovered evidence, or that the ground of the order has been reviewed.” *Rice v. Doe*, 166 S.C. at 166-167, *citing Steele v. Charlotte, C & A.Ry.Co*, 14 S.C. at 330 (emphasis in original).

The *Rice*⁷ opinion specifically references the *Enoree Baptist Church* case, which is the same circumstances presented here. Here, the McCutchen Order granted the motion to allow the Second Amended Complaint and expressly ruled that the statute of limitations defense could be raised by the new defendants again *after discovery*. (Order 7.25.25). The trial court judge, fully aware of the McCutchen Order, ignored it. No additional facts existed, or could they, since no discovery had occurred during the period of time between the McCutchen Order and the hearing before the trial court judge.

The standard which governed the trial court judge’s consideration of the (nonexistent) motion to dismiss⁸ required that he solely consider the factual allegations of the Second Amended Complaint and no evidentiary matter. “In deciding whether the trial court properly granted the motion to dismiss, this Court must consider whether the complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, states any valid claim for relief.” *Flateau v. Harrelson*, 584 S.E.2d 413, 415 (S.C. App. 2003). “If the facts and inferences drawn from the facts alleged in complaint, viewed in the light most favorable to the plaintiff would entitle the plaintiff to relief on any theory, the grant of a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim is improper.” *Spence v. Spence*, 368 S.C. at 116, 628 S.E.2d at 874.

⁷ In *Rice*, after providing guidance and analysis of the rule prohibiting a second circuit court judge from overruling a prior circuit court judge, the Supreme did not rule on that issue, finding a different issue dispositive of the appeal. *Rice, supra.*, 441.S.C. 166.

⁸ Loveless does not acknowledge that White and Hutchison made a proper motion to dismiss, as argued *infra*. At Issue Two.

As a result, the facts before the trial court judge were exactly the same as the facts before Judge McCutchen. No new facts existed. That point was made clear to the trial court judge at the hearing. “We don’t have one additional fact, not one, since Judge McCutchen’s order has been issued.”⁹ (Tr. P. 43, lines 17-19; P. 44, lines 15-18).

The record establishes that the trial court judge knew certain issues were precluded from his consideration by the McCutchen Order. At the hearing, the trial court judge sought to find a way to distinguish the McCutchen Order. “[W]had did he mean by, ‘They can be heard at a later time. . .’” (Tr. P. 52, lines 8-9). “[I]t was a motion to amend. . . which is a different standard.” (Tr. P. 52, lines 9-12). “[H]e could have said ‘I’m going to go ahead and consider it, and whether I let you amend it or not and just hear it all at once’ or ‘I’m going to do the Rule 15, the lower standard, and then y’all do the Rule 12 or later 56, whatever it may be.’ Is that a possibility of what he did at that hearing?” (Tr. P. 52, lines 18-23).

Loveless’ counsel agreed that might be what the McCutchen Order was trying to do but also pointed out that White and Hutchison didn’t leave it at that; instead, they filed factual information and argument in their motion to reconsider that addressed the statute of limitations. (Tr. P. 52, line 24 – p. 53, line 15). “So whether he wanted to punt or not, he wasn’t allowed to. These parties were granted the right to intervene specifically so they could argue against the amendment on all these same grounds that they’re arguing to you today.” *Id.*

After looking for a way to distinguish the McCutchen Order, the trial court judge ignored the McCutchen order completely. (Form 4 Order 2.9.2026; Formal order 2.17.2026).

⁹ At the time of the hearing, Loveless’ counsel incorrectly recalled that the McCutchen order addressed only the statute of limitations defense, and erroneously argued that the McCutchen order also addressed legislative immunity. (Tr. P. 44, lines 12-13; P. 47, lines 14-16).

Trial court judge's order granting White and Hutchison's (unfiled) motion to dismiss on the grounds of statute of limitations must be vacated.

2. The trial court erred in granting a nonexistent Motion to Dismiss.

At the hearing on the motions by all Respondents, Loveless' counsel expressly pointed out that the existing motion by White and Hutchison raised a single ground: the Second Amended Complaint was filed and served prematurely. (Tr. P. 44, line 19 – p. 45, line 9). Loveless also pointed out that all arguments setting forth grounds for a motion were set forth only in various memoranda filed by White and Hutchison. (Tr p. 46, lines 1-4). At the time of the hearing from which the order on appeal arose, no motion to dismiss was pending at all.

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