RECEIVED

Jul 30 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge

Case No.: 2026-000736

Kenneth B. Loveless,

Appellant,

v.

Kevin Scully, Edward K. White, Flora E. "Beth" Hutchison, Michael
Montgomery, and Beatrice Dennis-White,

Respondents.

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS WHITE, HUTCHISON, AND
MONTGOMERY**

RICHARDSON PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, P.A.

Eugene H. Matthews, SC Bar # 10193

Post Office Drawer 7788

Columbia, South Carolina 29202

(803) 771-4400

Facsimile (803) 779-0016

E-mail: gmatthews@RichardsonPlowden.com

**COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENTS WHITE, HUTCHISON,
AND MONTGOMERY**

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

ARGUMENT

I. DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONSIDER RESPONDENTS' ARGUMENTS IN SUPPORT OF THEIR MOTION TO DISMISS UNDER RULE 12(B)(6), SCRPC?

Appellant argues that the “trial court erred in granting a nonexistent Motion to Dismiss.” He purports to base this assertion on the fact that Respondents’ initial Motion to Dismiss stated that its Motion for Reconsideration of the Order granting Appellant’s Motion to Amend had not yet been ruled upon.

Appellant is apparently heedless to the laws and decisions implementing Rule 7(b)(1), SCRPC, and refuses to acknowledge (1) that Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss was timely filed, (2) that prior to the Court issuing a ruling on the Motion to Dismiss, Respondents filed a Supplementary Memorandum on October 6, 2025, setting forth at great length the defenses that ultimately supported the Court’s Order for dismissal, (3) that Appellant was fully aware of these defenses and underlying arguments for nearly five months between the date that the Respondents filed the Supplementary Memorandum and the date of the hearing on the Motion to Dismiss on February 3, 2026, (4) that Appellant filed a full 20-page response on February 2, 2026, to the Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss and Supplementary Memorandum, (5) that Appellant had a full and fair opportunity to argue against the Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss and Supplementary Memorandum at the hearing on February 3, 2026, and (6) that Appellant could and did file a full 13-page Motion for Reconsideration on February 27, 2026. It is absolutely clear that Appellant was fully aware of the arguments raised by the Respondents, had ample opportunity to respond to these arguments, and in fact did so.

In *Camp v. Camp*, 386 S.C. 571, 689 S.E.2d 634 (2010), our Supreme Court observed as follows:

Rule 7(b)(1), SCRCP, requires that motions “shall state with particularity the grounds therefor, and shall set forth the relief or order sought.” The particularity requirement “is to be read flexibly in ‘recognition of the peculiar circumstances of the case.’” *Cambridge Plating Co., Inc. v. Napco, Inc.*, 85 F.3d 752, 760 (1st Cir. 1996) (quoting *Registration Control Sys., Inc. v. Compusystems, Inc.*, 922 F.2d 805, 808 (Fed.Cir. 1990)). “By requiring notice to the court and the opposing party of the basis for the motion, Rule 7(b)(1) advances the policies of reducing prejudice to either party and assuring that ‘the court can comprehend the basis of the motion and deal with it fairly.’” *Calderon v. Kansas Dept. of Soc. and Rehab. Servs.*, 181 F.3d 1180, 1186 (10th Cir.1999) (quoting 5 Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, *Federal Practice and Procedure* § 1192, at 42 (2d ed.1990)). Therefore, when a motion is challenged for a lack of particularity, the court should ask “whether any party is prejudiced by a lack of particularity or ‘whether the court can comprehend the basis for the motion and deal with it fairly.’” *Registration Control*, 922 F.2d at 807–08 (quoting 5 Wright & Miller, *Federal Practice and Procedure* § 1192, at 42). “The particularity requirement should not be applied in an overly technical fashion when the purpose behind the rule is not jeopardized.” *Andreas v. Volkswagen of Am., Inc.*, 336 F.3d 789, 793 (8th Cir.2003) (citations omitted).

Camp, 386 S.C. at 575-76, 689 S.E.2d at 636-37 (“When neither party is prejudiced and the court is able to deal fairly with a motion for reconsideration, applying an overly technical reading of the rules does not serve the purpose of Rule 7(b)(1), SCRCP”); *see also Nexstar Media Grp., Inc. v. Davis Roofing Grp., LLC*, 431 S.C. 593, 601, 848 S.E.2d 597, 601 (S.C. App. 2020) (finding that “Nexstar and Mahoney were well-equipped to understand and respond to Davis Roofing’s motion to reconsider because the issue asserted was addressed repeatedly at trial and the parties were not prejudiced by the general nature of the motion.”); *Lucey v. Meyer*, 401 S.C. 122, 133, 736 S.E.2d 274, 280 (S.C. App. 2012) (“Acknowledging the flexibility of the particularity requirement, we find the court fairly addressed the motion as a Rule 59(e) motion for reconsideration.”); *Kincannon v. Griffith*, 2023 WL 2156736, at *1 (S.C. App. Feb. 22, 2023) (“We further hold Respondents’ motion to dismiss sufficiently alleged that Kincannon failed to state a claim regarding the causes of action in his complaint, and the circuit court was able to comprehend the motion and deal with it appropriately. *See* Rule 7(b)(1), SCRCP...”).

Further, Appellant has not, and cannot, argue from the record that Respondents' Motion to Dismiss was ruled upon in any fashion until after the Court heard from all parties at the hearing on February 3, 2026, and can show no prejudice. Appellant's argument that Respondents' Motion to Dismiss was "moot" is without any foundation, as no Court ever found it to be moot.

For these reasons, Appellant's argument that the "trial court erred in granting a nonexistent Motion to Dismiss" is utterly baseless and should be dismissed.³

II. DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANT RESPONDENTS' MOTION TO DISMISS UNDER RULE 12(B)(6), SCRC?

A. DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISS APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ON GROUNDS OF LEGISLATIVE IMMUNITY?

The baselessness of Appellant's argument regarding legislative immunity is captured in his statement that "[n]othing in the Second Amended Complaint alleges the dates on which White and/or Hutchison served as elected officials." (*Appellant's Initial Brief I*, p. 21). Such a claim is ludicrous. Materially, Appellant unambiguously alleged that White and Hutchison were serving as Board Members during the so-called "retaliatory attack" and "dog-and-pony show" that occurred on September 14, 2020, and that Montgomery assisted them with their efforts at the Board Meeting. (*Second Amended Complaint*, pp. 40-41). The sole-called "retaliatory

³ In this regard, Appellant's argument that, in ruling on a Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), SCRC, Judge Coble "overruled" Judge McCutchen's earlier order under Rule 15, SCRC, is especially difficult to comprehend. Appellant's argument that Judge McCutchen's earlier order effectively denied the Respondents' Motion to Dismiss – by requiring the parties to complete discovery prior to raising their defenses – is non-sensical. The Respondents had not even filed their Motion to Dismiss until after Judge McCutchen issued his Order on Appellant's Motion to Amend. Indeed, Judge McCutchen expressly stated that "this Court will not preclude any defenses or claims of privilege [that] any of the existing or new defendants may assert in their responsive pleadings as it relates to each individual claim against each defendant." (*Order of July 25, 2025*, p. 10) (emphasis added). A "responsive pleading" includes a motion filed under Rule 12, SCRC.

attack” and “dog-and-pony show” that occurred on September 14, 2020 was the central event detailed in the Second and Third Causes of Action in Appellant’s Second Amended Complaint (*Second Amended Complaint*, pp. 36-44).

In any event, in its Order, the Court was quite clear and accurate that the U.S. Supreme Court has held that state and regional legislators are entitled to absolute immunity from liability for their legislative activities. *Bogan v. Scott-Harris*, 523 U.S. 44, 49, 118 S. Ct. 966, 970, 140 L. Ed. 2d 79 (1998).

Whether an act is legislative turns on the nature of the act, rather than on the motive or intent of the official performing it. The privilege of absolute immunity “would be of little value if [legislators] could be subjected to the cost and inconvenience and distractions of a trial upon a conclusion of the pleader, or to the hazard of a judgment against them based upon a jury’s speculation as to motives.”

Id. at 54, 118 S. Ct. at 973 (citations omitted). The Court also correctly pointed out that, because legislators generally cannot perform their legislative roles without the assistance of aides, legislative immunity extends to the agents of legislators, *Gravel v. United States*, 408 U.S. 606, 616-17, 92 S.Ct. 2614, 33 L.Ed.2d 583 (1972), and that lower courts have extended that premise to find that even legislative employees in administrative roles can be entitled to legislative immunity. *See Nat’l Ass’n of Social Workers v. Harwood*, 69 F.3d 622, 625 (1st Cir. 1995) (finding legislative immunity protected Rhode Island House of Representatives Door Keeper).

Actions are “legislative” when they are “integral steps in the legislative process.” *Id.* at 55, 118 S. Ct. at 973 (voting on an ordinance, preparing a budget, and signing an ordinance into law are all “legislative acts” protected by absolute immunity). For instance, local elected board members have absolute legislative immunity when they discipline another member. *Chase v. Senate of Virginia*, 539 F. Supp. 3d 562, 570 (E.D. Va. 2021) (citing *Whitener v. McWatters*, 112 F.3d 740, 741 (4th Cir. 1997)). The Fourth Circuit has also found that “[s]peaking before a

legislative body is ... a type of legislative activity to which absolute immunity applies.” *Kensington Volunteer Fire Dep’t, Inc. v. Montgomery Cnty., Md.*, 684 F.3d 462, 471 (4th Cir. 2012); *Myers v. Town of Colmar Manor*, 457 F. Supp. 3d 480, 492 (D. Md. 2020).

It is, therefore, wholly unsurprising that the Court found that former Board Members speaking at a School Board meeting on a matter related to the construction of school buildings, or preparing for such a meeting, were engaged in quintessential “legislative acts.” The Court properly noted that the Fourth Circuit has held that local county board members discussing and voting on a zoning matter at a board meeting were protected by legislative immunity, even where “the defendant members of the Council met with a number of their constituents [prior to the board meeting] who had selfish interests in the passage of the zoning ordinance and were influenced in their vote as a result of the meetings.” *Bruce v. Riddle*, 631 F.2d 272, 279 (4th Cir. 1980).⁴

Finally, the Court properly rejected Appellant’s argument that Montgomery was not entitled to legislative immunity because “he participated in and helped facilitate the retaliatory attack on Loveless” but was not himself a Board member. Legislative immunity extends to the agents of legislators. *Gravel*, 408 U.S. at 616-17; *Harwood*, 69 F.3d at 625. Given Plaintiff’s own allegations that Defendant Montgomery assisted the Board with legal advice and “gathering information” concerning the matters raised in Plaintiff’s letter of March 24, 2020, which purportedly assisted the Board members with their “attack” on September 14, 2020, it is clear that Defendant Montgomery is also entitled to legislative immunity. *Kness v. City of Kenosha, Wis.*, 669 F. Supp. 1484, 1490 (E.D. Wis. 1987) (“The Mayor’s presiding over the council and the City Attorney’s drafting of the ordinance are activities immune from suit...”).

⁴ Appellant has abandoned his arguments based on the alleged “personal motives” of the Respondents, as well as the alleged “administrative” nature of the actions of the Respondents.

B. DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DISMISS APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ON GROUNDS OF ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE AS TO RESPONDENT MONTGOMERY?

Appellant's arguments regarding the dismissal of claims against Montgomery due to the attorney-client privilege are doomed because (1) the Court correctly reviewed the Second Amended Complaint and concluded that Appellant's assertion that Montgomery acted outside the scope of his role as an attorney was not a factual allegation but a conclusory legal allegation, which the Court need not credit or assume to be true, and (2) the Court correctly relied on *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297, 298, 457 S.E.2d 601, 602 (1995).

Appellant's conclusory legal assertion that Montgomery acted outside the scope of his role as an attorney is just that – a conclusory legal assertion that, unlike an assertion of fact, does not deserve to be credited. A motion under Rule 12, SCRPC, requires that a Court accept well pleaded facts in the complaint, but does not require a Court to accept an unsupported conclusion which is contrary to the admitted facts, or conclusions of law asserted by the plaintiff. *Charleston Cnty. Sch. Dist. v. Laidlaw Transit, Inc.*, 348 S.C. 420, 425, 559 S.E.2d 362, 365 (S.C. App. 2001); *Charleston County Sch. Dist. v. S.C. State Ports Auth.*, 283 S.C. 48, 50, 320 S.E.2d 727, 729 (S.C. App. 1984) (“A demurrer admits the facts well pleaded in the complaint but does not admit the inferences drawn by the plaintiff from the facts, nor does it admit conclusions of law.”).

Further, Appellant's argument that Judge Coble somehow misquoted *Stiles* is simply wrong. Judge Coble cited *Stiles* at length, and accurately, explaining that a court **must** dismiss a complaint that alleges the attorney acted within his scope, or in this case, relied only on conclusory allegations otherwise:

Nowhere in the complaint does Onorato allege in what manner Bowen acted outside his role as Stiles' attorney nor does he allege that Bowen breached some independent duty owed to Onorato. Therefore, on the face of his complaint, the only reasonable inference is that Bowen was acting at all times in his capacity as Stiles'

attorney. Under *Gaar*, Bowen is immune for any activities taken in his professional capacity. Accordingly, under *Gaar*, Onorato's complaint was fatally deficient and Bowen's Rule 12(b)(6) motion was properly granted.

Stiles, 318 S.C. at 300, 457 S.E.2d at 603.

As with his allegations regarding other Respondents, Appellant's allegations against Montgomery amount to an incomprehensible mishmash of conclusory assertions that, in the end, failed to state a complaint for a number of reasons, and with regard to Montgomery, these reasons properly included attorney-client privilege.

C. DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY FIND THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIMS WERE BARRED BY THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS?

As an initial matter, the applicable statute of limitations applicable to the claims brought against the Respondents is two (2) years under the S.C Tort Claims Act. The statute of limitations for claims of Conspiracy or Outrage (or Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress) is ordinarily three (3) years. However, to the extent that White, Hutchinson, and Montgomery were either officials or agents of the School Board of Trustees for Lexington-Richland District Five, they are covered by the South Carolina Tort Claims Act (the "Act"), and for that reason, the statute of limitations for each of these claims is two (2) years. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-78-110; *Flateau v. Harrelson*, 355 S.C. 197, 208, 584 S.E.2d 413, 419 (S.C. App. 2003); *Young v. S.C. Dep't of Corr.*, 333 S.C. 714, 719, 511 S.E.2d 413, 416 (S.C. App. 1999).

Nevertheless, under either the two- or three-year statute of limitations, because Appellant's claims for Conspiracy and Outrage against White, Hutchinson, and Montgomery "related back" to the filing in U.S. District Court on October 25, 2023, and the claims accrued on October 14, 2020, the statute of limitations had already expired by the time Appellant first brought them in federal court.

Appellant’s argument appears mired in his fundamental misunderstanding on the nature of an “accrual” of an action. “Generally, a cause of action accrues under South Carolina law the moment the defendant breaches a duty owed to the plaintiff.” *Allwin v. Russ Cooper Assocs., Inc.*, 426 S.C. 1, 12, 825 S.E.2d 707, 713 (S.C. App. 2019). However, under the “discovery rule,” as discussed in *Stokes-Craven Holding Corp. v. Robinson*, 416 S.C. 517, 787 S.E.2d 485 (2016), the limitations period commences when the facts and circumstances of an injury would put a person of common knowledge and experience on notice that some claim against another party might exist.

This standard as to when the limitations period begins to run is *objective* rather than subjective. Therefore, the statutory period of limitations begins to run when a person *could or should have known*, through the exercise of reasonable diligence, that a cause of action might exist in his or her favor, rather than when a person obtains actual knowledge of either the potential claim or of the facts giving rise thereto.

Allwin, 426 S.C. at 12–13, 825 S.E.2d at 713 (emphasis in the original).

Notably, the “date when a plaintiff learns of a potential new defendant has **absolutely no bearing** on the timing of a statute of limitations.” *Gillman v. City of Beaufort*, 368 S.C. 24, 27–28, 627 S.E.2d 746, 748 (S.C. App. 2006) (emphasis added).

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